STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Broward County, Florida is a political subdivision of the State of Florida which provided essential governmental services during 1978 and 1979 through more than 4,000 County employees [R-88-89]. Most County employees, including the EMTs, were covered by the Broward County Civil Service Rules and Regulations. Such rules established hiring, promotional and disciplinary procedures, terms and conditions of employment, and an administrative grievance procedure for employees not covered by a collective bargaining agreement.

A. Overtime Under the Civil Service Rules

County employees were required to work a variety of different work schedules dependent upon the nature of the services performed. Secretarial and clerical employees regularly worked a 37 1/2 hour per week schedule whereas employees in other occupations worked a normal 5 day, 40 hour work week (R-85). Two groups of public safety

employees, the EMTs and County firefighters, were regularly scheduled to work 24 hours on duty/48 hours off duty for an average of 56 hours per week $\frac{2}{[R-332]}$.

Broward County's Emergency Medical Services (EMS) division commenced as a pilot project employing only 12 EMTs in 1973 [R-53]. It became a permanent County division in 1974 and by 1978 the number of EMTs employed was approximately 100. The EMS Division operates twenty-four hours per day every day of the year through EMTs who provide medical treatment at the scene of an injury prior to transporting the patient to a hospital. Since the inception of the program, EMTs have been scheduled to work twenty-four continuous hours every third day in accordance with the established custom in the ambulance industry (R-59-61).

EMTs and all other County employees were employed at annual rates of pay within pay ranges for the classification (e.g., EMT-1, Secretary I, etc.) as specified in the Broward County Civil Service Rules and Regulations Pay Plan. The pay plan computations (e.g., hourly, biweekly and annual compensation rates) were based upon a normal 40 hour week (2,080 hours per year). Accordingly, the only computations which accurately reflected the pay of 37 1/2 and 56 hour employees were the biweekly and annual pay amounts. The pay

There is no true fifty-six hour week. The 24 hour on duty/48 hour off duty schedule generally required each EMT to work two shifts (48 hours) in one week, two shifts the following week (48 hours) and three shifts (72 hours) in the third week for an average of 112.31 hours in any two week pay period. The operational fiction of a fifty-six (56) hour week is an average derived by dividing annual scheduled hours of work (2,920 hours) by 52 weeks per year for an average of 56.15 hours per week [R-771].

plan stated that the rates and ranges of pay represented gross compensation for full time service (R-772). This meant that an employee received the full annual compensation as stated in the pay plan if he or she worked all regularly scheduled work hours for the position held [R-86-88, 656-6571.

Overtime for those County employees not covered by a union contract was governed by Sections 103.141 and 103.142 of the County's Civil Service Rules, which provided as follows:

Section 103.14: Overtime

- 103.141. Overtime is work beyond the normal hours of any scheduled work week as authorized or directed by a department, division or office head with the approval of the County Administrator. In any division or office, overtime shall be authorized or directed only when it is in the interest of the County and is the most practical and economical way of meeting unusual workloads or deadlines. As a general rule, the requirement of frequent and overtime considerable services division or shall department, office be considered evidence of understaffing orimproper organization.
- Necessary overtime work, when approved 103.142. County Administrator, by compensated by equivalent time off or cash payment at the regular rate of pay for the class involved up to 40 hours. After 40 hours, [sic] employee will be paid at the rate of time and one half. All overtime must be approved in advance by the employee's supervisor and authorized by the division or Payment for overtime at a higher office head. rate or by any other method than set forth in Section shall require the specific approval of the Board of County Commissioners [R-717].

In accordance with the above-referenced civil service rules, hours worked by County employees were computed on a weekly basis and paid biweekly, twenty-six times per year. In order to accommodate the County's computerized payroll system which was based upon a regular 40 hour week, a clerical employee who worked his or her regular 37 1/2 hour week would record the 37 1/2 hours plus a 2 1/2 hour time adjustment (80 hours biweekly) in order to receive the full biweekly salary as indicated in the pay plan. If the clerical employee worked more than 37 1/2 hours, the first 2 1/2 additional hours were compensated at straight time and hours over 40 were compensated at the time and one half rate (R-86-88).

A similar time adjustment was utilized for EMTs and fire-fighters whose regular work week averaged 56 hours on duty. If a 56-hour employee worked all scheduled shifts, he or she recorded 40 hours (80 hours biweekly) on payroll records in order to receive the full biweekly paycheck as provided in the County's pay plan [R-609-611]. If a 56 hour employee worked hours in excess of regularly scheduled shifts, overtime was paid at a time and one half rate for such additional hours. Since the inception of the EMS Division in 1973 (and during the period relevant herein) overtime for EMTs and firefighters was computed and paid only for hours beyond normal scheduled shifts ["Stipulated Facts," Joint Pretrial Stipulation R-771-772].

B. Union Organizing By The EMTs

On May 24, 1978, Local 2485 filed a petition with the Florida Public Employees Relations Commission (PERC) pursuant to Section 447.307, Florida Statutes (1977), seeking to become the exclusive collective bargaining agent for EMTs employed by Broward County [Defendant's Proffered Exh. No. 3 at pp. 1-31. Administrative proceedings to determine the appropriate bargaining unit continued through May 25, 1979, when PERC approved the results of a representation election and certified Local 2485 [R-226, Defendant's Proffered Exh. No. 4 at p. 41.

During the last half of 1978, the County's Personnel Director proposed the elimination of the 40 hour time adjustment for EMTs, even if manual computation of the EMS payroll was required, to enable straight time wages, fringe benefits and overtime to be calculated on the basis of the EMTs' actual 56 hour schedule [Defendant's Exhibit No. 1, R-13291. The revisions were not implemented at that time because Section 447.501, Florida Statutes (1977), required the County to "maintain the status quo" on wages and benefits during the pendency of Local 2485's efforts to unionize the EMTs. In any event, the payroll computer was limited to the 40 hour scale and could not be reprogrammed (R-127-128).

On March 14, 1979, the Broward County Administrator issued Administrative Order No. 419 (effective 3/19/79) as a clarification of the preexisting civil service rules regarding overtime and other rules covering compensatory time, holiday pay, annual leave and bonus days [R-290-292, complete copy of order at Appendix-21. The order stated in pertinent part:

2. Overtime (CSR & R Section 103.14)

Overtime is work beyond the normal hours of any scheduled work week. After 40 hours <u>actually</u> worked, [sic] employee will be paid at the rate of time and one half.

For those employees working a 37 1/2 hour week and recording a two and one half (2 1/2) hour time adjustment the following rule applies for work in excess of 37 1/2 hours and not exceeding 40 hours:

This time is recorded as additional regular time on the payroll voucher form -- in the column headed as "ACTUAL". It will be paid at the regular pay rate.

All regular employees, when approved to do so, will earn premium (time and one half) overtime for the excess over their total scheduled hours which includes any time adjustment as referenced above.

Sick Pay, Bonus Day, Holidays, Personal Day, Funeral Leave, Civil Leave, Military Leave, Annual Leave, and Leave without Pay will not count toward total hours for overtime computations [emphasis in original].

County were already under way by June 20, 1979 [R-105, Defendant's Proffered Exhibit No. 1]. On November 5, 1979, while the negotiations were ongoing, the Director of the EMS Division issued a memorandum to all field personnel which stated:

In accordance with Administrative Order 419, effective March 19, 1979 (Page 1, attached), field personnel will receive premium overtime pay only after actually working their scheduled number of shifts (24 hour) per week. The number of shifts worked per week varies according to a rotating schedule [Defendant's Exhibit 11 at R-1329].

C. EMT Overtime Under the Union Contract

On March 11, 1980, Local 2485 and the County entered into a three year union contract which was effective retroactively to October 1, 1979 [R-222-289; Defendant's Proffered Exh. No. 4]. In

accordance with the requirements of Section 447.309, Florida Statutes (1979), the union contract set forth the wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment for EMTs. The union contract called for a six (6) percent increase in annual salary but otherwise continued the past practice of paying overtime only for hours in excess of regularly scheduled shifts. The union contract stated in pertinent part:

ARTICLE 22

OVERTIME

- A. Authorized overtime will be paid at the rate of one and one-half $(1\ 1/2)$ times an employee's basic rate of pay.
- B. Overtime will be computed on the basis of actual hours worked in a seven (7) day period, beginning Sunday at 0900 and ending the following Sunday at 0859.- An employee who works more hours than his/her scheduled shifts during this period will be paid overtime for the additional hours worked as long as s/he actually worked the scheduled shifts. Shifts paid for annual leave shall be computed as hours worked [R-264, Defendant's Proffered Exh. No. 4 at p. 22, emphasis supplied].

Article 30 of the union contract, entitled "RATES OF PAY/HOURS OF WORK'', acknowledged and continued at Section 3.A. the fifty-six (56) hour average workweek for EMTs which was in effect prior to the Agreement and provided for a future workweek reduction to fifty-three (53) hours per week [R-284; Defendant's Proffered Exh. No. 4 at p. 30A; Joint Pretrial Stipulation at R-772, ¶9]. Finally, Article 30, Section 3.C. of the union contract acknowledged that prior to and after the contract, the annual salary of an EMT was full compensation for a 2,920 hour work year, stating:

C. The computation for pay purposes shall be based on 2,920 hours per year. [R-285, Defendant's Proffered Exh. No. 4 at p. 308].

D. The Civil Service Grievance

On June 17, 1980, approximately three (3) months after the union contract was signed (eight and one-half months after it became effective), the nominal class Plaintiff herein, EMT Keith Finlayson, filed a formal civil service grievance on behalf of all EMTs employed by the County. The grievance was based upon the foregoing civil service rules and Administrative Order No. 419 and asserted for the first time that EMTs had been paid for only sixteen (16) hours of every twenty-four (24) hour shift worked since 1973. As relief, the grievance sought retroactive overtime and credit for sick and annual leave [R-293-2941.

Section 120.021 of the County's Civil Service Rules defines the term "grievance" in pertinent part as follows:

Grievance -- A "grievance" is a request for relief in a matter of concern or dissatisfaction, which is subject to control by management; it may relate to disputes concerning the interpretation or application of the Civil Service Rules and Regulations and personnel policies (Appendix-3).

Section 120.0501 of the County's Civil Service Rules provides as follows with respect to initiation of a formal grievance:

Any employee entitled to relief hereunder and who has been demoted, suspended, dismissed or is otherwise aggrieved may take advantage of these grievance procedures providing [sic] that he or she shall:

(a) Within five (5) working days of the effective date of a disciplinary action or from the date the employee could reasonably be expected to have knowledge of the existence of the condition of employment causing him or her to feel aggrieved, file a Grievance Form with his or her division head setting forth the reasons for the grievance ... [R-505, Appendix-41.

The EMS Division Director denied the grievance as untimely under the above rule because the EMTs failed to file within the five (5) working day time limitation [R-295]. The EMTs did not advance the grievance to the next step before the Department Director and did not request a formal hearing before the County's independent Personnel Review (i.e., civil service) Board as provided in the civil service rules [R-555].

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Abandonment of the Civil Service Grievance

Following the EMS Division Director's denial of their civil service grievance, the EMTs filed a "notice of administrative appeal" under Chapter 120, Florida Statutes (1979), with the Fourth District Court of Appeal. 3/ Although Local 2485 was not named as a party, the notice of administrative appeal (and the instant circuit court action) were filed by legal counsel retained directly by Local 2485 under a fee arrangement whereby the union was solely respons-

The appeal, sub nom. Keith Finlayson et al. v. Broward County, Case No. 80-1251, characterized the Division Director's rejection of the grievance on timeliness grounds as a final order [R-548-5491. The EMTs voluntarily dismissed the appeal on January 27, 1981 [R-553].

ible for a non-contingent \$10,000.00 minimum legal fee, plus costs and a contingency bonus in the event of a favorable result [R-1046-10481.

Concurrent with the notice of administrative appeal, Local 2485 also commenced the instant action in circuit court on July 21, 1980 [R-214-215]. Count I of the complaint sought a declaration under Chapter 86, Florida Statutes (1979), that the five (5) working day limitations period set forth in the County's civil service rules was unconstitutional; a declaration regarding the entitlement of EMTs to retroactive overtime; and an order requiring the payment of all overtime due [R-214-2201. Count II of the complaint asserted breach of contract based upon the County's alleged failure to pay overtime in accordance with the civil service rules [R-220-221]. Copies of the civil service grievance and the Division Director's response [R-293-2951 and a copy of the October 1, 1979 - September 30, 1982 union contract between Local 2485 and the County covering EMTs were attached to the complaint as exhibits [R-222-2891.

The County subsequently raised lack of subject matter jurisdiction for failure to exhaust administrative remedies as a defense by motion [R-297, order at R-304] and in its amended answer [R-391-392, order at R-3931. By order dated August 2, 1983, the trial court granted the EMTs' motion for partial summary judgment in their favor as to the jurisdictional defense [R-533]. By order dated September 1, 1983, the trial court granted the County's motion for summary judgment as to the statute of limitations defense, holding that all overtime claims arising prior to July 16, 1978, were conclusively barred [R-563-564].

B. Trial Court Entry of Summary Judgment Rejecting the Retroactive Overtime Claims

By order dated May 30, 1984, the trial court granted final summary judgment to the County, holding that the EMTs were entitled to overtime under the civil service rules and Administrative Order No. 419 only for hours in excess of their regularly scheduled fifty-six (56) hours in any work week [R-711-7231. The trial court additionally held that the EMTs had waived any arguable entitlement to overtime and/or were estopped from claiming such retroactive wages by their years of acquiescence in the County's interpretation of its overtime rules [R-722].

C. Reversal by the Fourth District (Finlayson I)

Local 2485 appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. No oral argument was conducted. In <u>Finlayson v. Broward County</u>, 471 So.2d 67 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) (<u>Finlayson I</u>), the appellate court reversed, concluding as follows:

"The operative portion of Order No. 419 reads:

Overtime is work beyond the normal hours of any scheduled work week. After 40 hours actually worked, employee will be paid at the rate of time and one half [emphasis supplied by Court: id. at p. 68].

The appellate court thus held that the second sentence of the above paragraph controlled and stated its view that "[o]f the 56 hours worked, 16 were actually overtime." Id. The cause was thereupon "remanded for further proceedings not inconsistent herewith." Id. The appellate court did not address the alternative ground of waiver

relied upon by the trial court and did not question subject matter jurisdiction.

D. Proceedings Upon Remand and Trial

Upon remand, the trial court granted the EMTs' motion for judgment pursuant to mandate and entered a final judgment on liability against the County. The order stated that the County was liable for:

each hour worked by the Class members in excess of 40 hours per week, and not paid, or not fully paid, by the COUNTY" [emphasis supplied, R-7571.

The trial court retained jurisdiction to determine the amount of overtime wages due [R-757].

During preparation of their joint pretrial stipulation, the parties became aware that they differed greatly on the scope of the issues which remained for trial [R-1130]. The EMTs filed two motions in limine seeking to preclude the County from presenting evidence concerning facts and legal conclusions which the EMTs claimed had been conclusively determined by the prior appellate court decision [R-763-764, 767-7681. Prior to a ruling on the motions, the parties filed a detailed Joint Pretrial Stipulation which included stipulated facts and stated their respective positions on the issues remaining for trial [R-769-834, 950-9531.

By order dated October 23, 1986, the trial court granted the motions in limine [R-939] stating as follows:

THIS CAUSE shall proceed to trial on the only remaining issue in this case, that being whether

the salary received by members of the plaintiff class constituted payment for all scheduled hours worked or just forty (40) hours per week. The parties shall limit" their evidence accordingly [emphasis supplied].4/

At the commencement of trial, the trial court permitted counsel for the County to make an oral proffer concerning what the evidence excluded by the order granting the motions in limine would have shown. The oral proffer included evidence that the EMTs had waived any right to claim overtime by years of inaction [R-14-18] and evidence showing that the EMTs had actually worked (apart from sleep, meal and waiting time) significantly less than fifty-six (56) or even forty (40) hours per week [R-9-12],

The formal trial which followed consisted of the testimony of two EMTs for the Plaintiffs and the testimony of the County's Personnel Director for the Defendant. On direct examination, both EMTs claimed that they had only been paid for forty (40) hours per week or eighty (80) hours per pay period because that was what their computer generated pay documents showed [R-56-57, 73, 77]. One EMT produced what he identified as a County document promising overtime after forty (40) hours work which he received when he was hired by the County 11 1/2 years previously (i.e., 1975) [R-73]. On cross examination, both EMTs testified that they had been hired at an annual salary to work fifty-six (56) hours (on average) per week:

(Q)

The trial was thus limited to whether the EMTs had already been paid for all 56 hours, on average, per week at straight time, thus entitling them to 16 hours pay per week at a half time rate, or whether the salary covered only 40 hours and entitled the EMTs to 16 hours pay per week at a time and one half rate.

that they received their full annual salary if they worked all regularly scheduled shifts [R-63-64, 76]; and that they had received overtime at time and one-half rates for hours in excess of their regularly scheduled shifts [R-60-61, 791.

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