0/a 9-5-89 FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT

JUL 5 1989 C

STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

BROWARD COUNTY,

Petitioner/Appellant,

CASE NO. 73,475

vs .

KEITH FINLAYSON, et al,

Respondent/Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/APPELLEE KEITH FINLAYSON, et al

PAUL R. REGENSDORF
STUART A. ROSENFELDT
Fleming, O'Bryan & Fleming
Attorneys for Respondent/Appellee.
500 East Broward Boulevard
Seventh Floor
Post Office Drawer 7028
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33338
(305) 764-3000, 945-2686 & 736-2388

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

After determining that there was no statutory cause of action, the Third District did discuss <u>Flack</u> and construed it, in dicta, more narrowly than is appropriate. If such comments can create jurisdictional conflict, they should be corrected by this Court.

¹³Alternatively, the COUNTY argues that prejudgment interest does not commence to run until a "demand for payment" is made. While that was true in the three cited cases because in each case it was the demand that caused the debt to become due, when a debt is owed, irrespective of a demand, then the obligation to award prejudgment interest relates back to the date the debt became lue. In this case, and as calculated in the judgment in this cause, the debt became due during each pay period for which the

employees whole for the wrongful act of public employers, the "loss theory" dictates an award of prejudgment interest.

The decisions of the trial court and the Fourth District with respect to prejudgment interest were correct in all respects. They should be affirmed and, to the extent this Court feels that no conflict exists with <u>Sigman</u>, then and in that event this discretionary review proceeding should be dismissed.

COUNTY did not pay overtime. See, e.g., Butler Plaza, Inc. v. Allen Trovillion, Inc., 389 So.2d 682 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980).

Compare Kissimmee Utility Authority v. Better Plastics, Inc., 526 So.2d 46 (Fla. 1988), Brooks v. School Board of Brevard County, 419 So.2d 659 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) and Parker v. Brinson

Construction Co., 78 So.2d 873 (Fla. 1955) with National Union

Fire Insurance Co. v. Gelfand, 477 So.2d 28 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985)

and Law v. Blue Lagoon-Pompano, Inc., 470 So.2d 33 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) (claim not based on sums due pursuant to contractual performance, but rather for the return of a purchase price, necessitating a demand therefor).

POINT II ON APPEAL

(PETITIONER'S POINT I ON APPEAL RESTATED)

WHETHER THE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE OF FAILURE TO EXHAUST ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES DEFEATS THE SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OF THE CIRCUIT COURT AND, IF SO, IS THE DEFENSE WAIVED BY FAILING TO APPEAL THE ISSUE TO THE FOURTH DISTRICT IN FINLAYSON 11.

At the outset, the Court's attention needs to be drawn to the fact, if not otherwise apparent, that the COUNTY has not argued the defense of failure to exhaust administrative remedies to any court in any way since 1983. Although its original motion to dismiss claimed a lack of subject matter jurisdiction, in neither its answer, nor amended answers, nor memorandum of law in the trial court, did the COUNTY ever try to recloak its affirmative defense as an attack on the trial court's "subject matter jurisdiction." PARAMEDICS moved for partial summary judgment on this issue (R-502) and it was granted. (R-533).

After the 1983 summary judgment nothing was heard of exhaustion of remedies or subject matter jurisdiction -- through all further proceedings in the trial court, the first appeal, the remand, or the second appeal to the district court in Finlayson
FII, -- until it resurfaced as Point I in the COUNTY's Initial Brief in this Court.

The rationale for the COUNTY's decision to revive this issue as an attack on subject matter jurisdiction, rather than as its status as an affirmative defense, is obvious. Having long since sbandoned the argument below, and most importantly, having never raised it or presented it, particularly in the Fourth District, in Finlayson 11, the affirmative defense has not been preserved

•:

for review by this Court. <u>Dober</u>, supra; <u>Gifford</u>, supra. Since a court's subject matter jurisdiction can be challenged at any time, the reason for the COUNTY's old argument having new trappings, however ill suited, is apparent.

Distilled to its essence, the COUNTY's position is that its civil service rules and regulations can oust a constitutionally created circuit court from its <u>subject matter jurisdiction</u> over those disputes referred to it by general law (here, declaratory judgments under Chapter 86 and breach of contract actions for damages under Chapter 26). Respectfully, the rules do not have that force or effect.

While, in a proper case, if the defense of failure to exhaust administrative remedies has been timely made and preserved, a court should defer or abstain from proceeding until exhaustion has occurred, that deference is not because the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. Accordingly, the COUNTY's bold opening statement that it is "settled law" that a court lacks subject matter jurisdiction if administrative remedies have not been exhausted is categorically rejected.

Appellate cases in which the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies has been properly preserved in the trial court and brought before the appellate court for review occasionally utilize the word "jurisdiction" in deciding that they will require a plaintiff to exhaust his administrative remedies. A review of cases which have analyzed the question of the court's subject matter jurisdiction, however, yields the inescapable conclusion that courts finding no subject matter

jurisdiction terminology are either confusing the concept with that of primary jurisdiction or are simply misinformed.

Thus, in St. Joe Paper Co. v. Florida Department of Natural Resources, So.2d (Fla. 1st DCA, December 21, 1988, 14 F.L.W. 25), the First District reviewed an order that dismissed a complaint for lack of jurisdiction, based upon a finding that the plaintiff had failed to exhaust its administrative remedies. In a detailed analysis of the questions of power versus deference, the court stated that the issue is one of policy and not jurisdiction:

Under [the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies], the circuit court cannot be said to have lacked subject matter jurisdiction in this case, but only to have chosen to abstain from exercising that jurisdiction in deference to the administrative process.

Similarly, that court in <u>State Department of General Services v.</u>

<u>Biltmore Construction Co.</u>, 413 So.2d 803, 804 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982)

stated:

The question of whether or not jurisdiction over a controversy is in the court or in an administrative agency proceeding is one of policy and not of power or jurisdiction. See <u>Gulf Pines Memorial Park v. Oaklawn Memorial</u>, 361 So.2d 695 (Fla. 1978). As a matter of policy, a court should not exercise its jurisdiction if an adequate administrative remedy is available until that remedy has been exhausted. [Citations omitted].

In <u>City of Miramar v. DCA Homes, Inc.</u>, 385 So.2d 152 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), the Fourth District also considered an exhaustion of administrative remedies argument.

Neither is jurisdiction over the subject matter, in the conventional sense of that phrase, involved here. The defense of failure to exhaust administrative remedies sounds more in policy than in jurisdiction. To be sure, the phrase primary jurisdiction has been employed to describe the seeming lack of power of a court to

exercise jurisdiction where this defense is successfully interposed. <u>Pushkin v. Lombard</u>, 279 So.2d 79 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1973); <u>School Board of Leon County v. Mitchell</u>, 346 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). However, we prefer the analysis and language of <u>Jones v. Braxton</u>, 379 So.2d 115 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) that what is involved in these cases is policy, not jurisdiction.

See also Lambert v. Rogers, 454 \$0.2d 672, 674 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); Laborers' International Union v. Greater Orlando Aviation Authority, 385 \$0.2d 716, 717 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); Department of Revenue v. Joanos, 364 \$0.2d 24, 25 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), cert. den. 372 \$0.2d 467 (Fla. 1979); Warner v. City of Miami, 490 \$0.2d 1045 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986) (Judge Ferguson concurring); Cutler v. Hayes, 818 F.2d 879 (D.C. Cir. 1987); National Black Media Coalition v. Federal Communications Commission, 791 F.2d 1016 (2d Cir. 1986); Jean v. Nelson, 711 F.2d 1455 (11th Cir. 1983).

Since the rule in Florida and elsewhere is that the failure to exhaust administrative remedies is an affirmative defense governed by the policy considerations of deference, as opposed to the power considerations of subject matter jurisdiction, it also follows that a litigant that does not assert and preserve its available defense in a timely fashion will be deemed to have waived it and will be barred from asserting it in a later proceeding. For instance, the court in <u>Jones v. Braxton</u>, 379 So.2d 115 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979), was faced with a thirteenth hour attempt to raise an exhaustion argument, just as this Court does. In rejecting the contention, the court stated:

Appellants argue first that this circuit court had no jurisdiction because the appellees failed to exhaust administrative remedies. This issue was not raised until after the final order was rendered by petition for rehearing. Generally error cannot be claimed in judicial acts to which objections were not made at the

appropriate time. See 3 Fla.Jur. 2d, Appellate Review, § 95. Since the question of exhaustion of administrative remedies is "not one of jurisdiction but of policy," we will not review it in this appeal. (Citations omitted).

Id. at 117. See also Cutler, supra, at 891.

Leaving aside the dispositive issues that (1) the circuit court did have subject matter jurisdiction over this dispute and (2) the COUNTY has totally failed to preserve its right to have this Court review the summary judgment on its affirmative defense, there is no question that the trial court acted properly in 1983 when it granted summary judgment and struck the COUNTY's defense. At its most basic, the COUNTY's response to KEITH FINLAYSON's grievance filed June 17, 1980 was such that no further effort to resolve this matter through the COUNTY's purported "system" was necessary. First of all, as the COUNTY's own rules and regulations set forth, a division head is required to meet with the grieving party within five days, That never happened. Instead the COUNTY responded the next day, June 8, 1980, in writing, affording Ms. FINLAYSON no access to the grievance process at all.

Moreover, a review of the COUNTY's response demonstrates that it was not a "denial" of the class grievance which could have indicated that further review was available. Instead, what Ms. FINLAYSON's supervisor did was to reject the grievance from the system altogether, saying "I cannot accept the attached styled grievance as a bona fide grievance." Faced with this egregious violation of its own rules and regulations and expulsion of Ms. FINLAYSON from the grievance process, the court

.

was well within its discretion in determining that the conduct of the COUNTY was such that the prospects of meaningful administrative review were nil. See <u>State ex rel Department of General Services v. Willis</u>, 344 So.2d **580**, **590** (Fla. 1st DCA **1977).** Ms. FINLAYSON did not have her grievance denied in an orderly administrative review; she was summarily ejected from the process she had only begun the day before.

In <u>Perry v. City of Fort Lauderdale</u>, 387 So.2d 518 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980) (referred to as <u>Perry 11</u>), the class of plaintiffs was seeking overtime pay pursuant to its interpretation of the municipality's controlling law much as the PARAMEDICS' case. When the class was met with an exhaustion of administrative remedies argument, the Fourth District rejected that discretionary (or deferential) limitation as follows:

There is no affirmative administrative action involved here. There is no "grievance" as that term is used to define a problem which must wend its way through the administrative mill. The city has taken one view of its ordinance; appellants take the opposite view. What is at stake is the proper interpretation to be placed on the ordinance, a matter of statutory construction and, therefore, a matter for the courts. There can be no question that an action for declaratory relief is the appropriate method for questioning the interpretation of a municipal ordinance. § 86.021, Fla. Stat. (1979); R-C-B-S Corporation v City of Atlantic Beach. 178 So.2d 906 (Fla. 1st DCA 1965).

In their effort to avoid the obvious import of <u>Perry 11</u>, the COUNTY, at Page 24 of its brief, suggests that the case is inapposite because (1) the PARAMEDICS were seeking retroactive, as opposed to prospective relief, and (2) they <u>did</u> file a formal grievance. Reference to <u>Perry II</u> again negates these arguments. While in 1980 the PARAMEDICS were seeking only retroactive

relief, the <u>Perry</u> decision does not by its terms or its logic require that the interpretation of municipal law be prospective only, retrospective only, or both. It is simply a question of law for the court. Secondly, although <u>Perry</u> acknowledges that no "grievance" was present, the use of the term in quotation marks was obviously done to distinguish that use of the term from the traditional one-on-one dispute between an employee and his supervisor. In <u>Perry</u>, just as before this Court, the dispute between the class of employees and its employer was purely and simply the construction of controlling law with respect to the payment of overtime compensation. No action of any administrator had triggered the legal dispute.

Similarly, the Fourth District in <u>State Department of H.R.S.</u>

<u>v. Lewis</u>, 367 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979) recognized an

exception to exhaustion of administrative remedies by saying:

A distinction between a proceeding essentially seeking a review of agency action, and one essentially seeking a determination of rights has also been used as a litmus in determining jurisdiction. In the former case, the Administrative Procedure Act controls, whereas in the latter, jurisdiction lies in the circuit court.

367 So.2d at 1045. Quite clearly, on the facts before this Court, there was no administrative action of any sort. Instead, the PARAMEDICS simply sought a declaration of their rights under the COUNTY's own controlling law and regulations.

Accordingly, since the issue of exhaustion of administrative remedies is purely one of defense and deference, rather than of jurisdiction, and since the COUNTY has slept on its rights and failed to argue the issue for almost six years, including two

trips through the Fourth District Court of Appeal, the COUNTY's jurisdictional argument is without merit, and its defense has been waived. Moreover, when the nature of the dispute and the COUNTY's handling of it are reviewed in accordance with Florida law, it is seen that the trial court acted properly in striking the defense initially when it did so in 1983.

POINT III ON APPEAL

(PETITIONER'S POINT II ON APPEAL RESTATED)

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY ENTERING JUDGMENT ON REMAND FINDING THE COUNTY LIABLE FOR OVERTIME OR BY LIMITING THE ISSUES TO BE TRIED.

A. Standard of Review.

As the COUNTY briefly but accurately notes, the standard by which this Court must judge the actions of the trial court on remand is whether it abused its broad discretion conducting subsequent proceedings. Thus, this Court in <u>Lucom v.</u> Potter, 131 \$0.2d 724, 726 (Fla. 1961) stated:

It is well settled that, upon reversal and remand with general directions for further proceedings, a trial judge is vested with broad discretion in handling or directing the course of the cause thereafter. See Pritchett v. Brevard Naval Stores Co., 1939, 134 Fla. 649, 185 So. 134; Stossel v. Gulf Life Insurance Co. of Jacksonville, 1936, 123 Fla. 227, 166 So. 821.

See also <u>Veiner v. Veiner</u>, 459 So.2d 381 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984);

<u>Harbor Club Condominium No. 3, Inc. v. Sauder</u>, 380 So.2d 449

(Fla. 2d DCA 1979). Unless the COUNTY can be said to have established clearly and beyond peradventure that the trial court abused its broad discretion in determining the issues to be tried on remand, its argument on this point falls of its own weight.

Respectfully, the COUNTY has not even tried to address that standard, let alone meet it.

B. The Trial Court's Actions were Proper in all Respects and Constituted no Abuse of Discretion.

The decision of the Fourth District in <u>Finlayson I</u> was not taken to this Court for review. What the Fourth District

said on review of all factual presentations (and in what is now the law of the case) was that the summary judgment for the COUNTY was error and that the rules and regulations drafted by the COUNTY when applied to these PARAMEDICS demonstrated their entitlement to overtime for an average of sixteen hours every week.

The COUNTY's sole authority for their argument on this point are the Fourth District's two decisions in Perry v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 352 So.2d 1194 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977) (Perry I) and 387 So.2d 518 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980) (Perry 11). These cases, argued fully to the Fourth District below, suggest no error by the trial court because the question of limitation of issues on remand was presented to neither court. The decision in Perry I was nothing more than a bare declaration as to the meaning of a particular Fort Lauderdale ordinance. No effort was made by the parties or the court to apply the declared meaning of the ordinance to any particular set of facts before it.

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